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\P rologue & S ynopsis e 
 

HIS yearõs Study Tour brings the Society to a hitherto un-
explored region of Central Southern England.  The an-

cient counties of Hampshire and Wiltshire provided much of 
the inspiration for the fictitious òWessexó of the novels of 
Thomas Hardy (1840-1928).  His creation provided a unified 
topography and setting, which he accounted for by òfinding that 
there were objections to an invented name, I disinterred the old 
oneó.  The conscious act of revival and deliberate anachronism 
appealed to Hardyõs reading public, such much so that the no-
tion of pre-Conquest, time-out-of-mind traditions, actively col-
oured popular impressions; a òWessex customó was uncritically 
accepted as a genuine, indigenous folk tradition. Hardy himself 
was no stranger to the Gothic Revival, having spent his early 
career apprenticed to the Dorchester architect James Hicks, and 
securing medals from both the Royal Institute of British Archi-
tects and the Ar-
chitectural Asso-
ciation.  In his 
later years, he 
would repudiate 
many of the val-
ues enshrined in 
the aesthetics of 
High Victorian 
architecture, and 
in particular the 
aggressive resto-
ration of 
churches.  This 
aside, it is Hardyõs 
evocation of an 
elusive past, co-
existing with the 
Nineteenth Cen-
tury present, 
which parallels 
the Romantic re-
sponse to the 
Middle Ages 
which underpins 
much of the 
Gothic Revival itself, and which was given physical form in sev-
eral of the buildings explored in this Study Tourõs programme.  
The sentiment for people, places and a timeless landscape en-
capsulated by Hardyõs òmerely realistic Dream-Countryó are 
ably conjured up by the City of Salisbury; the base for this yearõs 
exploration of the strands of Gothic Revival from the edge of 
Salisbury Plain, through the New Forest and down to the 
Hampshire coast.  Salisbury itself is a locus classicus for the meeting 
of mediaeval Gothic and the Romantic appetite for the ôsublimeõ 
experience, in architecture and nature; early nineteenth-century 
expectations ably captured in John Constableõs celebrated 1831 
painting of the Cathedral seen from the meadows to the west 
(see above), with its soaring spire rising into a tempestuous sky.  
Commenced in 1220, when Bishop Richard Poore (ruled 1217-
1225) moved the see and settlement from the ancient site of Old 
Sarum to the banks of the River Avon, the Cathedral is unique 
amongst its English sister churches for having been erected in a 
single building campaign.  Its interior is possessed a pure clarity 

of design and refined consistency of execution, associated with 
the ecclesiastical reforms promulgated by the Fourth Lateran 
Council (1215) and the adoption of the Sarum Rite, first devised 
by Saint Osmund (ruled 1078-1099) for use in the previous ca-
thedral at Old Sarum.  With regional variations, this became the 
standard liturgical model for late-mediaeval England, and at-
tracted the renewed interest of both Roman Catholic and An-
glican scholars during the Nineteenth Century. A.W.N. Pugin 
took it as his benchmark, and assiduously provided his churches 
with the necessary prerequisites for its revival, much to the in-
comprehension and consternation of clergy who knew nothing 
other than the post-Reformation Tridentine Rite.  A.W.N.P.õs 
own homage to this liturgical ideal is ably embodied in his church 
of Saint Osmund, pointedly built just outside the Cathedralõs 
precincts, and a testament to A.W.N.P.õs close friendship with 
the patron, John Lambert.  The formerõs personal attachment 
to the region can be understood by exploring Christchurch Pri-
ory; an outstanding and little-known great conventual church, 

and where 
A.W.N.P.õs sec-
ond wife, Louisa 
Button, is buried. 
It was also in 
Salisbury where 
A.W.N.P. was re-
ceived into the 
Roman Catholic 
Church on 6th 
June 1835, and 
where he built his 
first building, the 
now much al-
tered Saint 
Maryõs Grange at 
Alderbury, which 
we are privileged 
to visit.  As con-
ceived the house 
was a repudiation 
of the middle-
class villa model. 
With its gilded 
roof cresting and 
drawbridge, the 

house was an ostentatious and mendacious affirmation of the 
late Middle Ages, albeit tempered with youthful naïvety.  Where 
this was antiquarian, the appetite for the Gothic sublime, was 
given full vent in James Wyattõs vast Fonthill Abbey.  Built for 
the wealthy recluse William Beckford, whose own life was col-
oured with overtones characteristic of a tragic anti-hero, it was 
the fullest realisation of the Romantic Gothic spirit.  That Font-
hill was largely destroyed when the central tower collapsed in 
1825, a victim of its own over-reaching ambition, seems entirely 
apposite.  The influence of Fonthill is felt at Highcliffe Castle, 
built for the self-styles Charles Stuart, 1st Baron de Rothesay, and 
incorporating genuine mediaeval architectural elements sal-
vaged from the destruction of the Napoleonic Wars.  Original 
examples of the regionõs mediaeval architecture are explored in 
the superb ruins of Wardour Castle and the House of John 
Halle, in Salisbury itself.  The diversity of religious buildings will 
also be addressed, from the strikingly lavish Saints Mary and 
Nicholas, Wilton to the Classical New Wardour Castle Chapel.   
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\P reliminary e vening 

The Cathedral Close & Sarum College e 
 

IKOLAUS Pevsner observed in his Wiltshire volume of The 
Buildings of England that òIt may well be said that Salisburyõs 

is the most beautiful of English Closesó.  Its generous scale and 
openness provides the requisite spacious environment for the 
architecture of the Cathedral to maintain its primacy.  Construc-
tion of residences in the Close proceeded whilst the Cathedral 
itself was under construction.  The grant Edward III  gave in1327 
to enclose it with a wall marks the date when the precinct proper 
was given an architecturally distinct identity from that of the ad-
jacent city.  This survives to the greatest extent along the south-
ern and eastern perimeters, though the boundaries between sec-
ular and spiritual jurisdiction remain prominently marked by the 
four surviving gatehouses, of which the Saint Ann and Bishopõs 
Gates are coterminous with the precinct wall.  The most orna-
mented is the North Gate, dating from the second-half of the 
Fifteenth Century, which faces towards the High Street (see op-
posite).  The Royal Arms above the quatrefoil frieze date from 
the Restoration, and for A.W.N.P. would have represented the 
disastrous effects of the Reformation; leaving the English 
Church worn down by temporal authority and Erastian princi-
ples.  It is worth considering why Salisbury has a Close on this 
scale.  As reconstituted by the Norman reforms of English dio-
ceses, Salisbury was staffed by secular priests, serving in the of-
fices of canons, vicars and chaplains, rather than by a religious 
community.  Hence the conventional arrangements of monastic 
buildings arranged around a cloister could be dispensed with; a 
move capturing the pioneering spirit with which Salisbury, as 
Cathedral and city, was begun.  Originally the Norman Cathe-
dral had been cited in the ancient settlement of Old Sarum 1 ¼ 
miles to the north, where it was built inside an Iron Age ring 
ditch, directly adjacent to the seat of temporal authority, the Cas-
tle.  With a series of escalating conflicts, and a lack of a reliable 
water source, the Cathedral authorities petitioned Pope 
Honorius III (ruled 1216-1227) in 1217 to re-erect their cathe-
dral on a new site, and a Papal Bull authorising this transferal 
was issued two years later.  That year it was agreed in Chapter 
that every canon and vicar had to bear the costs for building 
houses in the newly demarked Close.  Plots were generously 
sized, generally being one-tenth of a mile in length, with those 
on the west side bordering the River Avon.  The south-eastern 
corner was reserved for the Bishopõs Palace.  Parts of this date 
back to the time of Richard Poore (ruled 1217-1225) though its 
present form owes much to the efforts of Seth Ward (ruled 
1667-1689) who made good some of the depredations suffered 
during the Commonwealth.  Much of the stonework from Old 
Sarum, with its distinctive Norman designs of zigzag and dia-
perwork, were recycled on the new site.  The Model for the can-
onsõ houses was set by that of Master Elias of Dereham, who 
was Keeper of the Fabric and the Common Funds for the new 
Cathedral from 1224 at the earlier.  In conjunction with the ma-
son Nicholas of Ely, the former is likely to have had an influence 
over the design of the Cathedral.  Such direct involvement by 
mediaeval churchmen in architectural patronage offered the 
beau ideal for A.W.N.P., as his full praise for such prelates as Wil-
liam Waynflete, òthe pious and munificentó founder of Magda-
len College, Oxford, who stood in sharp contrast to the Church 
Building committees A.W.N.P. was forced to work with.  Whilst 

the aspect of the Close may appeal to us, with its intermingling 
of Late-Stuart and Georgian residences, it must have repelled 
A.W.N.P. as symptomatic of the lax spiritual values of the An-
glican Establishment.  He explored this difference between the 
piety of pre-Reformation clerics and their Georgian successors 
in a series of drawings entitled The Deanery in 1830, where the 
fabric built by the Catholic John Shelton is barbarously sub-
jected to òjudicious alterationsó by the bewigged John Philpotts.  
This satirical work not only reflects A.W.N.P.õs responsiveness 
to the poor treatment of mediaeval buildings, but demonstrates 
an initial step toward expounding his ideas in 1836 with the pub-
lication of Contrasts, which unleashed a volley of Protestant in-
dignation and counter-protest in the local press of Salisbury. 
The nucleus of Sarum College is a nine-bay late Seventeenth 
Century townhouse, characteristic of the period.  To this, from 
1875-1876, William Butterfield added an L-shaped range of stu-
dent accommodation to the rear.  The restrained treatment of 
the elevations, built in flint with stone dressings, indicate a con-
scious move away from the strident polychromy and pattern-
making which Butterfieldõs earlier works so forcefully deploy, 
most famously at Keble College, Oxford.  In 1881, Butterfield 
designed the two-storey chapel, which preserves the same nu-
anced understatement of his earlier wing, but punctuates the 
junction with the earlier townhouse by positioning an octagonal 
bell turret here, thereby creating a taunt juxtaposition of archi-
tectural forms.  This is surely as a gesture of High-Victorian re-
pudiation against the Classical idiom of the townhouse, demon-
strating that Butterfieldõs powers of assertive design had not 
failed him later in his career.  The commission shows the con-
tinuing reputation of Butterfield within Anglican circles, having 
won the much-prized approval of the Ecclesiological Society by 
the late-1840s, consolidated in his All Saints, Margaret Street.        
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\D ay O ne : T he P icturesque 

Old Wardour Castle e 
 

HE feudal architecture of the Middle Ages has a long held 
place in the inter-mixed strands of antiquarian, picturesque 

and Romantic thought.  As the Gothic Revival gained sway over 
architectural design in the early Nineteenth Century, the vogue 
for mansions in the ôcastellated styleõ, as well as the wholesale 
reconstruction of surviving mediaeval castles, became prevalent.  
The most iconic example of this was George IVõs lavish refash-
ioning of Windsor Castle from 1824-1840; a project designed by 
Jeffrey Wyatville (who affected a mediaevalised surname ever 
afterwards) and for which the young A.W.N.P. provided nu-
merous furniture designs. A.W.N.P. would later to reject his ju-
venile work at Windsor, as he would the vogue for castle archi-
tecture.  Castellated residences enjoyed a particular favour 
amongst the English aristocracy in Ireland, not only in emula-
tion of their An-
glo-Norman 
forebears, but 
with growing so-
cial unrest 
amongst the Irish 
Catholic popu-
lous, perhaps a 
reflection of con-
cerns over their 
feudal place as 
landlords. In his 
True Principles of 
1841, he reasona-
bly argued that 
this way of build-
ing òoriginated in 
the wants conse-
quent on a certain 
societyó, and ex-
plained that cas-
tles òas models 
for imitation é 
are worse than 
uselessó for the domestic requirements of the Nineteenth Cen-
tury.  The consequence disguising of modern provisions as the 
salient parts of a feudal stronghold resulted in òa mere mask, 
and the whole building an ill-conceived lieó.  Despite the clear 
misapplication of mediaeval architectural precedents to build-
ings which had no practical requirements for fortification, the 
resonant connotation of the castle endured even during the he-
gemony of Classicism; consider for example the houses de-
signed by the playwright Sir John Vanbrugh (1664-1726), who 
was keen for several of his designs to capture a òCastle Airó, to 
Castle Drogo, designed by Sir Edwin Lutyens (1869-1944). The 
qualities of military strength and endurance, coupled to chivalric 
ideals of dynastic succession and landed family strongholds, are 
ably demonstrated by the imposing ruins of Old Wardour Cas-
tle.  It is one of the most remarkable surviving examples of feu-
dal architecture from the late Fourteenth Century, and ably 
demonstrates the enduring appeal of such buildings after the 
mediaeval period had ended.  What survives today is the great 
keep tower, erected by John, 5th Baron Lovell after he was 

granted a royal licence to fortify his residence in 1393.  Remark-
ably, and in a clear departure from earlier models, the core of 
the castle was built as a hexagon around an inner courtyard (see 
below).  Originally rising through five floors, which held the fam-
ilyõs living quarters, its entrance is marked by coupled towers. 
The sheer boldness of massing, based on explicit geometrical 
components, clearly indicates that martial building was by no 
means exhausted by the last decade of the Fourteenth Century 
(see below), and implies this is the work of a master builder, per-
haps William Wynford.  In addition, there was originally a gate-
house and service wings forming an enclosing outer bailey.  The 
sources for Wardourõs design have been traced to some Conti-
nental models, and more persuasively to Edward IIIõs remodel-
ling of Windsor Castle.  This itself was a deliberate invocation 
of Arthurian myth to create a suitable setting for the kingõs 
newly-created Order of the Garter, which survives as the oldest 
continuous chivalric Order.  With the advent of gunpowder and 
ordnance in the late Fifteenth Century, the age of the castle as a 
practically defensible provision had passed.  However, as has 

been noted, the 
resonance of 
such buildings 
was not lost to 
successive gener-
ations.  Old War-
dour is a case in 
point, for in 1570 
the estate was 
purchased by Sir 
Matthew Arun-
dell, who began 
to refurbish the 
castleõs fabric.  To 
him can be as-
cribed the classi-
cal niches either 
side of the en-
trance portal, and 
that leading to the 
main staircase, 
which is treated 
as a Doric ae-
dicule.  Less im-

mediately obvious are the clear attempts at introducing sym-
metry (where possible) into the elevations by a careful recrafting 
of the windows so as to respect the inherited aesthetic of the 
castle, but adapt them to Elizabethan expectations.  Whilst 
A.W.N.P. would, of course, decry such exercises in òthe revived 
Pagan principleó of classicism, the remodelling of Old Wardour 
clearly suggests the endurance of the Middle Ages into Elizabe-
than culture.  The obvious parallels lie within the sphere of liter-
ature, such as Edmund Spenserõs allegorical Faerie Queene, pub-
lished in 1590.  The architect in question was perhaps Robert 
Symthson, one of the most celebrated designers of the ôprodigy 
housesõ, built by Elizabeth Iõs courtiers.  His manner of design 
could frequently make reference to mediaeval architecture, just 
as Spenserõs verse evoked a world of chivalry and combat.  De-
spite the placidity of its Eighteenth Century landscape setting, 
Old Wardour saw conflict during the Civil War, when in 1644 a 
mortar was detonated against the western wall, and the building 
ruined beyond feasible defence and subsequent repair.            
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\N ew Wardour C astle C hapel e 
 

OLLOWING the vicissitudes of the Civil War, the Arun-
dells were fortunate to hold on to both their estates and 

their Roman Catholic faith.  The latter is made clear by the un-
equivocal Elizabethan carving of the bust of Christ over the Old 
Castleõs entrance, with the inscription òSub nomine tuo stet genus & 
domusó (Under Your Name [O Christ] stands this family and 
house).  It is a rare affirmation of the Catholic faith from the 
post-Reformation era.  Through a series of propitious marriages 
and successful building speculation around Wardour Street in 
the Eighteenth Century, the familyõs fortunes recovered.  In-
deed, by 1756, when the 8th Lord Arundell succeeded to the title, 
it was feasible for him to project a new mansion which would 
become the largest of its period in Wiltshire; no mean achieve-
ment when the Penal Laws against Roman Catholics were still 
in force, though if not actively enforced.  The house itself was 
constructed between 1770-1776 to the designs of the architect 
James Paine, whose career spans the change in taste from the 
Palladianism of Lord Burlington to the demure archaeological 
work of Robert and James Adam.  It is the chapel, built as the 
eastern wing of the new house, which serves as a telling instance 
of new confidence of a landed ôOld Catholicõ family to lavishly 
provide for a private estate chapel in the late Eighteenth Cen-
tury.  The aesthetic richness is pervasive throughout the interior, 
pursued to a far greater degree than many urban Catholic chap-
els could have entertained, creating a unified tour de force affirma-
tion of Ecclesia Triumphans.  Only in the exterior is there a sug-
gestion of covert recusantcy, since the buildingõs sacred purpose 
is nowhere articulated to make it distinct from the rest of the 
ensemble. Wardour New Castle Chapel also serves as a valuable 
indication of how far removed Lord Arundellõs taste was from 
identifying Roman Catholicism with the architecture of the Mid-
dle Ages; a crucial association for A.W.N.P.õs own understand-
ing of ecclesiastical architecture and design.  Wardour is the very 
antithesis of A.W.N.P.õs ideal, and therefore offers insights into 
reaction against Classicism as a system of design.  The manifest 
contrast is exceptionally valuable, for this building embodies the 
highest type of Catholic building against which A.W.N.P. re-
acted with such determination, feeling a marked dissonance be-
tween purpose and style.  In his 1841 True Principles A.W.N.P. 
argued that òthe ornaments introduced about churches should 
be appropriate and significant, and not consist of Pagan em-
blems and attributesó.  To include such references to the art of 
the Ancient World was perverse: òwhat have we as Christians, to 
do with all those things illustrative only of former error? ó.  In terms 
of practicality, churches and the worship for which they were 
build did not originate in pagan temples.  Therefore, to adopt 
the latter as modern models was nonsensical, especially given 
the difference in climate between the shores of the Mediterra-
nean and England.  The modular proportional systems of the 
Orders, the geometrical clou to Classical architecture, where a 
buildingõs size could result in gigantic columns and entablatures, 
was similarly flawed when compared to the more dynamic ca-
pabilities of Gothic architecture.  In fine, A.W.N.P. reasoned that 
the parlous condition of Nineteenth Century architecture could 
be traced to òthe blind admiration of modern times for every-
thing Pagan, to the prejudice and overthrow of Christian art and 
proprietyó.  Style was therefore not merely a question of per-
sonal preference, but one consistent identification and clarity of 
purpose.  However, this should not blind us to Paineõs work. 

The Chapelõs interior is demarked by an imposing fluted Corin-
thian Order, carrying an entablature ornamented with an elegant 
rinceau frieze, above which semi-circular lunettes illuminate the 
space (see above). Bryan Little aptly described the effect as òsober 
yet unfurtive magnificenceó.  The design was not due to Paine 
alone, since from 1774 Lord Arundell consulted with Fr John 
Thorpe S.J., who acted as his artistic agent in Rome, and who 
procured designs from the Italian architect, Giacomo Quaren-
ghi. Clearly, Arundellõs aesthetic gravitation was towards the 
achievements at the exuberant heart of Roman Catholicism, 
over and beyond national capabilities. The flavour of the fur-
nishings is unabashedly ultramontaine. The High Altar, with its 
gradine and tabernacle designed like a psuedodipteral circular 
temple, is to Quarenghiõs design. Composed of richly coloured 
marbles, it was carved in Rome and shipped to England in 1776, 
with some parts arriving after the Chapel was opened on 1st No-
vember that year. The sanctuary lamps and candlesticks, again 
reflecting Thorpeõs influence, were executed by leading metal-
worker, Luigi Valadier. Behind the altar is a painting by 
Giuseppe Cades; an artist based in Rome, who had a successful 
career imitating the manner of the Old Masters. Indeed, this was 
only part of a projected scheme for Cades to fill the panels of 
Paineõs segmental vaulted ceiling, the visual impact of which can 
only be guessed at, and would clearly contrast with Paineõs re-
strained Classical idiom.  If realised, the result would have been 
an even more lavish transplantation of Roman religious richness 
to the parklands of Wiltshire.  Evidently, Paineõs original sanc-
tuary was later deemed to be wanting, for from 1788-1790, Ar-
undell called upon John Soane to remodel the east end with 
shallow transepts and a deeper, square sanctuary.  For an archi-
tect whose idiom is so instantly recognisable, Soane displays 
great sensitivity to integrating his extensions to Paineõs interior; 
there is no visual dissonance between the two building phases.  
In the lunette over the altar, the leading Birmingham stained-
glass painter, Francis Eginton, is filled by a window depicting 
the Name of Jesus in Glory; perhaps the first time this subject 
appeared in a religious setting.  The reason for Arundellõs exten-
sion could well lie in the repeal of the penal laws by the Catholic 
Relief Act of 1778, when prohibitions on Catholic activities 
were abolished, thereby providing a foundation for future ex-
pansion in both spiritual and architectural terms.        
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\F onthill a bbey e 
 

HERE is no greater monument to the early Gothic Re-
vivalõs ideals of the picturesque and sublime aesthetic than 

Fonthill Abbey: it stood as the apotheosis of this moment, and 
its legacy as a defining building in the long story of the Revival 
has never been in question.  It reflected the character of its pa-
tron, the reclusive William Beckford (1760-1844) òthe richest 
commoner in Englandó, whose own life was marred by scandal 
and consequent ostracising from Georgian society.  Personal, 
brooding sorrow appears to have given him the urge to assert 
himself through architecture; Beckford would go on to claim: 
òSome people drink to forget their unhappiness.  I do not drink; 
I buildó.  Its scale and ambition, built primarily to display Beck-
fordõs vast collection of artworks and objets dõart made Horace 
Walpoleõs Strawberry Hill look trite and trifling by comparison.  
The story of Beckfordõs own life is intimately intertwined with 
that of his Abbey, and have been frequently been rehearsed by 
architectural his-
torians.  Aside 
from his drive for 
building, which 
fascinated his 
contemporaries, 
Beckford was 
known for his 
novel, Vathek; 
the tale of an Ori-
ental potentate, 
with more than a 
dash of Sardana-
palus, who with 
his cohort are 
doomed to a 
tragic fate.  
Though the Ab-
bey has largely 
disappeared, the 
surrounding es-
tate grounds have 
largely survived, 
with their exten-
sive fir planting overseen by Beckford, completely enclosed by 
an eight-foot high wall.  Such a setting realised the aesthetic of 
the picturesque, as stipulated in Richard Payne Knightõs influen-
tial 1805 work Analytical Inquiry into the Principles of Taste and earlier 
by Edmund Burkeõs 1756 Philosophical Enquiry into the Origin of 
Our Ideas of the Sublime and Beautiful.  The estate itself had been 
purchased in 1740 by Beckfordõs father, Alderman Beckford, 
funded by a growing fortune derived from Jamaican sugar plan-
tations.  Beckford senior rebuilt an earlier house as a grand Pal-
ladian mansion; its moniker ôFonthill Speldensõ gives an impres-
sion of its opulence. Following the infamous homosexual scan-
dal in 1784, Beckford departed for an extended tour of the Con-
tinent which encompassed Portugal.  It was here in 1793 that 
Beckford saw the elaborate Gothic funerary chapels of Joãn I 
(ruled 1385-1433) at Batalha and Manuel I (ruled 1495-1521).  
Whilst abroad, Beckford contacted James Wyatt (1746-1813), 
then the leading proponent of the Gothic Revival, to draught 
plans for reconstructing Splendens and for a partly-ruined folly, 
with the appearance of a convent, to crown the nearby Hinckley 

Hill.  There was also a scheme for 175ft tower, and as Beckfordõs 
ambitions grew through the late-1790s, the two schemes were 
combined, and radically extended in scale and ambition.  Wyattõs 
designs were exhibited at the Royal Academy, and by 1798, the 
diarist Joseph Farrington recorded how Beckford intentions 
had mushroomed to megalomaniac proportions: òthe spire to 
be 17 feet higher than the top of Saint Peterõs at Rome.  The 
Abbey is to be endowed, & Cathedral service to be performed 
in the most splendid manner é A Gallery leading from the top 
of the Church to be decorated with paintings, the work of Eng-
lish Artists.  Beckfordõs own tomb to be placed in this Gallery, 
as having been an encourager of Artó.  By 1799, construction 
work had begun, marred the following year by the collapse of 
the first octagonal crossing tower, much to Beckfordõs anger.  
This was caused by Wyattõs absence from the building site, and 
his use of a dubious new material, compo-cement, in preference 
to stone.  The plan of the house, four great cruciform wings 
spreading from a vertiginous central tower, with internal vistas 
stretching for colossal distances (e.g. 312 feet from the octagon 

to the south gal-
lery).  In 1807, 
Beckford took up 
residence in his 
half-built abode, 
having enter-
tained Horatio 
Nelson and Lady 
Hamilton there 
four years before. 
From 1812, with 
an increase in the 
price of sugar, 
work was re-
newed apace. 
Wyatt, an òinfa-
mous Swineó, 
was dismissed in 
1812, and work 
began on a vast 
eastern transept, 
built to show 
Beckfordõs de-
scent from all the 

signatories of Magna Carta; an obviously fatuous boast.  Already 
by 1819 parts of the structure began to deteriorate rapidly, the 
haste in construction and Wyattõs inattentiveness were the dual 
culprits.  With the collapse of the price of sugar, in 1822, the 
Abbey along with its contents were publicly auctioned, and 
Beckford retired to Bath.  The new ôAbbot of Fonthillõ was one 
John Farquhar, wealthy and eccentric in equal measure. Beck-
ford warned him that the 300-foot tower actually lacked foun-
dations, and in 1825, it collapsed for the final time, taking much 
of the Abbey with it.  Only the tip of the northern transept sur-
vives today, this tiny fragment pathetically testifying to the vast 
structure of which it was once a part.  A.W.N.P. later recorded 
the towerõs fall with glee in his unpublished autobiographical 
notes.  For him, and a whole generation, Fonthill was òa mere 
toy, built to suit the caprice of a wealthy individual devoted to 
luxuryó.  The fraudulent effect of òsolemn architecture of reli-
gion and antiquityó, for a building which has no religious pur-
pose at all, is nothing more than òa mockery and thing of fash-
ion, transient and perishable as the life of its possessoró.    
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\P arish C hurch of S aint Mary 

and S aint N icholas, Wilton e 
 

HIS conspicuously lavish estate church is arguably the mag-
num opus of its architect, Thomas Henry Wyatt (1807-

1880).  Though little remembered in subsequent accounts of the 
Gothic Revival, his professional success is attested to by his pro-
lific output, numerous examples of which can be found in 
Hampshire. A relative of James Wyatt, his design manner ably 
responded to the shifting aesthetics and expectations of the 
mid-Nineteenth Century, though the early promise of inventive-
ness and originality, demonstrated here at Wilton, later gave way 
to a somewhat cautious complacency, no doubt reflecting the 
practice of a successful architectõs office. Wilton is not only a 
legacy to his youthful capabilities, but to a formative moment in 
Victorian Ecclesiology before the later orthodox preference for 
the òSecondó or òMiddle Pointedó of the Thirteenth and early-
Fourteenth Centuries (i.e. our Decorated) had so firmly taken 
root. It is important to remember that the interest in adopting 
Continental Gothic examples for new churches did not begin 
with the publications of John Ruskinõs Stones of Venice (1851-

1853) or Seven Lamps of Architecture (1849).  Throughout the 
1830s, architects had toured the Continent to study both exam-
ples of Gothic architecture, and its preceded style, the Rom-
anesque. The noted architectural historian Professor Robert 
Willis drew attention to the capabilities of Italian mediaeval ar-
chitecture as early as 1835, and throughout the 1830s and early-
1840s, Romanesque was frequently employed in new church 
design, not without a degree of success. This wider interest in 
the pre-Gothic styles was shared by Continental architects, keen 
to break the stranglehold of academic Classicism. The move-
ment was particularly strong in Germany, where the term Rund-
bognstil (Round-Arch) was coined, and where Gothic itself had 
taken longer to be adopted during the Middle Ages. A.W.N.P. 
himself had experimented with the Romanesque in his early 
churches, such as Saint James, Reading (1837) and Saint Mi-
chael, Gorey (1839) but later adopted the Decorated as repre-
senting the paean of Christian architecture.  His sentiments were 
echoed by the Ecclesiological Society, who by 1843 were already 
critical of new churches built in this style.  They described Wil-
ton thus: òWe find no fault with this church as a specimen of its 
own peculiar architecture: what we complain of is, that a foreign 
(we had almost said an un-Christian) style should have been se-
lectedó. Not Gothic! Wyattõs success at Wilton demonstrates 

how resourcefully this style could be handled, and implies what 
architectural opportunities were perhaps lost following the he-
gemony of Gothic after 1850.  The ambitious scale and richness 
of Wilton are due entirely to the patron, Sydney Herbert, Lord 
Lea, and his mother, Catherine, Countess of Pembroke, who 
contributed £20,000 for the building and furnishings.  It re-
placed the mediaeval church of Saint Mary, which survives as a 
partial ruin.  Herbertõs influence undoubtedly determined the 
stylistic choice, for with John Ruskin he was a founding member 
of the Arundel Society, set up to promote a popular apprecia-
tion for early-mediaeval art, against the òmeretricious or puerileó 
efforts of modern artists.  Wyattõs design has generally been 
classed as ôItalian Romanesqueõ but he drew from a wider gamut 
of examples for his inspiration.  The composition of the west 
front with its wheel window echoes that of the Eleventh-Cen-
tury churches of Santa Maria and San Pierro in Toscanello, 
though their treatment here lacks the rough vigorousness of the 
original buildings.  The almost detached campanile, joined to the 
church by an exquisitely detailed gallery also betrays a close ex-
amination of Lombardic precedents.  Also, the elaborate carv-
ing, both within and without, clearly displays an attentiveness to 
Italian models, such as in the western portal, where spiral col-
umns rest on the backs of lions.  Some details are known to have 
been carved by William Osmund, a Salisbury mason who knew 
A.W.N.P, and who received the latterõs censure for his mural 
tablets in the Cathedral.  The proportions of the interior, with 
its soaring height and nave arcade, however, suggest a closer 
knowledge of English mediaeval buildings, though it has been 
compared to Early Christian basilicas in Rome, such as San 
Clemente. Such buildings were also drawing the interest of Ger-
man Protestant architects, keen to find practical solutions for 
the liturgical requirements of the Lutheran Church; Christian Jo-
sias Bunsen published his two-volume Die Basiliken des christlichen 
Roms (The Basilicas of Christian Rome) from 1842-1844, at the 
same time Wilton was under construction.  Indeed, the munifi-
cence of Wyattõs patrons enabled the interior to be furnished 
with architectural fragments which had once come from some 
of the most venerable churches of the Eternal City.  The pulpit 
and the candle standards at the east end are original mediaeval 
Italian pieces, ornamented with geometrical stone inlays known 
as Cosmati, after a Roman family of practitioners in this skilled 
work.  Some of these originally came from Santa Maria Maggi-
ore, and date to 1256.  Until 1842 these fragments had been as-
sembled by Horace Walpole to form a display case, spuriously 
called the ôShrine of Capoccioõ in 1774.  Herbert bought them 
for 47 guineas at the Strawberry Hill sale in 1842, and returned 
them to a sacred use.  A.W.N.P. also attended this sale, and was 
unsurprisingly òdisgustedó by Walpoleõs Gothic furnishings.  
The church was also provided with an outstanding assemblage 
of mediaeval glass, culled from diverse sources, and creating an 
antiquarian bricolage of examples from the Thirteenth to the Six-
teenth Century.  The earliest fragments are thought to come 
from such famous buildings as the Abbey of Saint-Denis and 
the Sainte-Chapel, Paris; the latest a figure of God the Father 
(altered into Saint Nicholas) from Malines, by the celebrated gla-
zier, Arnold van Nijmegen.  Such repatriation of dislocated 
Continental religious art, torn from its original context by the 
upheavals of the recent past, was of course also practiced by 
A.W.N.P. in several of his churches.  The sumptuous effect was 
further enhanced in the Twentieth Century by the addition of 
mosaics to the sanctuary and chancel by Gertrude Martin, to the 
designs of Sir Charles Nicholson.          
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